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Behavior and Motivation in the Light
of New Evidence

One of the most elusive tasks facing historians of any event is to
uncover the attitudes and mindset of the “ordinary” people who
“make history” but leave behind no files of official documents and pre-
cious few diaries and letters. When “ordinary” people behave in ways
completely at odds with the previous patterns of their everyday life and
become the perpetrators of “extraordinary” crimes, this task becomes
both more difficult and more essential to undertake. But how to under-
take this task is a difficult question in its own right. In the case of Nazi
Germany, one approach has been to shift the focus of study from the
prominent and high-ranking perpetrators of the SS to the many indi-
viduals of the bureaucracy and business community, the medical and
legal professions, the German railways, and even the German churches
who contributed to the implementation of Nazi Jewish policy in one
way or another. Among the new subjects of study, attention has been
drawn in recent years above all to the German Order Police.

It is no longer seriously in question that members of the German
Order Police, both career professionals and reservists, in both battal-
ion formation and precinct service or Einzeldienst, were at the center
of the Holocaust, providing a major manpower source for carrying out
numerous deportations, ghetto-clearing operations, and massacres.’

* Christopher R. Browning, Ordinary Men: Reserve Police Battalion 101 and the Final
Solution in Poland (New York, 1992); Daniel Jonah Goldhagen, Hitlers Willing
Executioners: Ordinary Germans and the Holocaust (New York, 1996); Heiner
Lichtenstein, Himmlers griine Helfer. Die Schutz und Ordnungspolizei im “Dritten
Reich” (Kéln, 1990); Raul Hilberg, “The Bureaucracy of Annihilation,” Unanswered
Questions: Nazi Germany and the Genocide of the Jews, ed. by Francois Furet (New
York, 1989), esp. pp. 124-6, and Perpetrators, Victims, Bystanders (New York, 1992),
pp. 8§7-102;

(footnote continues)
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The professional or career Order Police, who were merged with the SS
in 1936, differed in age, career aspirations, institutional identification,
training and indoctrination, and percentage of party and S5 member-
ship from the reservists. It is especially the reservists, not the career
professionals, of the Order Police who could be said to be representa-
tive of “ordinary Germans.” Conscripted virtually at random from the
population of those middle-aged men who enjoyed no exemption for
providing skilled labor essential to the war economy, they represented
an age cohort that was socialized and educated in the pre-Nazi period
and was fully aware of the moral norms of a pre-Nazi political culture.

What was the motivation and mind-set of the Order Police reservists
who became Holocaust perpetrators? Did they come to their task pos-
sessed by virulent anti-Semitism and eager to kill Jews, or were they
transformed by the situation in which they found themselves in eastern
Europe? Did their attitude toward killing Jews differ from that toward
killing other victims? Did they act with uniform enthusiasm, or did
they display a spectrum of response — including evasion and nonpar-
ticipation by a significant minority — when killing?

Several scholars have answered these questions in sharply contrast-
ing ways owing to very different readings of the admittedly problem-
atic postwar judicial testimony given by the Order Police themselves.

(footnote continued)

T Konrad Kwiet, “From the Diary of a Killing Unit,” Why Germany? National Socialist
Anti-Semitism and the European Context, ed. by John Milfull (Oxford, 1993), pp. 75-90;
Andrej Angrick/Martina Voigt/Silke Ammerschubert/Peter Klein, ““Da hdtte man schon
ein Tagebuch fithren miissen.” Das Polizeibataillon 322 und die Judenmorde im Bereich
der Heeresgruppe Mitte wihrend des Sommers und Herbstes 1941,” Die Normalitit des
Verbrechens. Bilanz und Perspektiven der Forschung zu den nationalsozialistischen
Gewaltvebrechen, ed. by Helge Grabitz, Klaus Bistlein, and Johannes Tuchel (Berlin,
1994), pp. 325-85; Jirgen Matthaus, “What About the ‘Ordinary Men’?: The German
Order Police and the Holocaust in the Occupied Soviet Union,” Holocaust and Genocide
Studies 1o/2 (fall 1996), pp. 134—50, and “‘Reibungslos und planmissig. Die zweite
Welle der Judenvernichtung im Generalkommissariat Weissruthenien (1942-1944),”
Jabrbuch fiir Antisemitismusforschung 4 (1995), pp. 254-74; Martin Dean, “The
German Gendarmerie, the Ukrainian Schutzmannschaft and the ‘Second Wave’ of Jewish
Killings in Occupied Ukraine: German Policing at the Local Level in the Zhitomir
Region, 1941-1944,” German History, 14/2 (1996), pp. 169~92; Paul Kohl, Der Krieg
der deutschen Webrmacht und der Polizei 1941-1944: Sowijetische Uberlebende berichten
(Frankfurt/M., 1995); Klaus-Michael Mallmann, “Vom Fussvolk der ‘Endlésung’

Ordnungspolizei, Ostkrieg, und Judenmord,” Jabrbuch fiir Geschichte, 21 (1997), pp-

355-91; Edward B. Westermann, “Ordinary Men’ or ‘Ideological Soldiers’> Police

Battalion 310 in Russia, 1942, German Studies Review, 21/t (February 1998), pp.

41-68.
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The task of the historian now is to locate and analyze rare contempo-
rary sources that can shed additional light on these issues. For that pur-
pose I would like to consider two other kinds of sources: first, the
eyewitness accounts by Jewish survivors who possessed a unique van-
tage point from which to observe the internal dynamics and individual
behavior of German Order Police reservists, and second, three collec-
tions of unusual documents: (1) the records of the Schutzpolizei station
of Czeladz, an industrial suburb of Sosnowiec, in East Upper Silesia®;
(2) the letters of a member of Reserve Police Battalion 105 in the
Baltic’; and (3) the records of a German wartime investigation of an
unplanned massacre of the Jews of Marcinkance in the Bialystok
district in November 1942, in which both career and reserve police
participated.*

Let us look first at East Upper Silesia. After the publication of my
book Ordinary Men, 1 received the following letter:

Your book deeply affected me, because I personally experienced the German
Schutzpolizei, the good and the bad. As a 15 year old Jewish boy, I was sent
by the Judenrat as a punishment to my father to do maintenance work in the
headquarters of the German police. The town then called Auschwitz had no
running water. I carried water and polished their boots until March 1941
when the whole Jewish population had to leave. The whole police company
came from the town of Waldenburg in Silesia. I came across men that in my
opinion could not hurt a fly. Walter Stark, Max Maetzig, Walter Kraus, Joseph
Grund, Polizeimeister Sebranke, his deputy Orlet, and so on. Two of them
were willing to make out false papers and send me as a Pole to work in
Germany, apparently knowing what was coming. . . . As I mentioned before
this whole company came from the town of Waldenburg. As faith [sic] wants
it, in October 1944 I was taken to the KZ Waldenburg. In January 1945 we
were taken to dig so-called Panzergraben [anti-tank ditches] on the outskirts
of town in the direction of Breslau. One evening going back to the camp a
child was playing on the sidewalk. I recognized him as Horst Maetzig, who[m]
I met with his parents in Auschwitz. His father Max Maetzig was one of the

* United Srates Holocaust Memorial Museum (hereafter cited as USHMM), Record
Group 15.033m, 8 reels (from Glowna Komisja Badnia Zbrodni Przeciwko Narodowi
Polskienu Instytut Pamieci Narodowej, Archival Nr. 171), especially files 17, 31, and 32.

? Ludwig Eiber, ed., . . . ein bisschen die Wahrheit”: Bricfe eines Bremer Kaufmanns von
seinem Einsatz beim Reserve-Polizeibataillon ros in der Sowjetunion 1941, 1999:
Zeitschrift fiir Sozialgeschichte des 20. und 21. Jabrbunderte, Uox, pp. mwlw 3. \

# USHMM, Record Group 53.004m, reel 1 (from Grodno Oblast Archive, fond 1, opis
1), folder 59. ‘
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policemen. Of course, you know we ﬁmﬂm msm?mm ww\owﬂm.m H_Mo%mnw MMMMMM MM Mw.

1 i 1 orst. He vay
iy :m&ﬁ MM ﬁﬁmr,\mww MMM%SWMM_M mﬁm% his mother Elisabeth, and [she] just
MMMMMW%:N her head. 1 appreciated that now very much. For Mrm meﬁmﬁwww
months, she and her boy stood there, it was a Qmﬁmnawsm eoom for
Bon&m.,H will never forget it. I wonder S&mﬁ .Vm@@m:m& Wo MSEm Wm wnM anm %mzm
if they wound up to do what you describe in our book. Maybe y

out for me, I would be gratetul.’

I do not in fact know what this company of Ewa&m-mmwa HUOWMQB@SMHMM
Silesia did subsequently. But the newly wmomwmvwwwv mmm. oom e
izei poli inct in Czeladz indicate that the behavior
Schutzpolizei police precinct 1n dz in . avior o7 1h¢
i in Silesia was i d atypical in comparison to e :
olicemen in Silesia was indee . \ .
Mnoc?om Polish and Soviet territory in ways that are very msmmﬂn‘ﬁw .
When East Upper Silesia was annexed to mrw 12:& eich
October 1939, a network of German Schutzpolizei precinct wwmnozw
v 1 1 can
i i in the urban areas, including Sosnowie
was quickly established in t clu Wit :
its w%&:mﬁim_ suburb of Czeladz. The momsgﬁmw w&éﬁmorﬁu %Momn
i fully 7o percent of these men wou
ated on the assumption that ; O o
i ily housing.® A roster from Aug :
married and need family , m August 1942
f the men in the Czeladz polic )
reveals that fully one half o . arion
i i igin.” And the police commande
had family names of Polish origin. . . ommander in
i < licit that it was forbidden for .
Sosnowiec had to make exp . e
ish i lic while in uniform because this w
speak Polish in pub ! nifor: s was damag e
i i Thus it is likely that, as in
to the image of the police. . :
Kattowitz Schutzpolizei, the Czeladz police were H.mwmj:m‘ﬁmw mammz
Silesia. They lived with their families in a milieu with éwwn ﬁ_.<<
were relatively familiar. They were not an isolated group o Bowww_ -
ing alone far from family and home in an alien .,u:SonbS%. el
&M&Qos was far closer to that of reservists serving 1n @nm.ﬁsnﬁ Mww
vice near home in Germany than of those serving on occupied Polis
and Soviet territory. . .
From the surviving documents of the Czeladz @wrnm mnmmowum_,\m M@M
that the commander of the Schutzpolizei in Sosnowiec was a stickler 1o

3 | letter of J. H. to the author, 21.11.95. . s
6 WMMM%%?%WO 15.033m, reel 1, folder 4, p. 18 (KdSchupo in ?osmmwwm& AWMW Crelads
7 Cmmzzv RG 15.033m, reel 6, folder 208, p. 61 (roster of 4. Polizeirevier, ,

MM i -Befehl Nr. 31,
8 WMNHM\HNHN» RG 15.033m, reel 4, folder 175, p. 42 (Abschnitts-Kommando-Befehl Nr. 3

6.6.40).
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ideological training and indoctrination. In this regard, he was extremely
disturbed by the attitude of these men. For instance, he complained
about the “previous indifference” (“bisherige Gleichgiiltigkeit”) of the

men toward meetings and written materials devot

ed to ideological
indoctrination.

? He also voiced his obvious disappointment in related
matters as well. When the singing of the SS-Treuelied had to be aban-
doned because the men did not know the words, he ordered special
hours of singing practice until the words were mastered. “In the furure
at all official and social occasions as well as at the conclusion of the
monthly ideological training sessions, the SS-Treuelied must be sung.

Because of our close organizational ties wich the SS, this song is also the
basic hymn of the police,” he ordered.*®

Concerning the attitude of these reservists toward Jews, it should be
noted that the experience of the 90,000-100,000 Polish Jews of East
Upper Silesia was significantly different from that of their fellow Jews
in the Warthegau and the General Government. Many were moved
into certain towns and Jewish residence areas within East Upper
Silesia,** but only a few were expelled into the General Government.'*
Though their freedom of movement was curtailed by curfews as well
as prohibitions against use of public transportation and entering cer-

tain streets and buildings in 19471, the Jewish quarters of East Upper
Silesia were not transformed into sealed ghettos until tl

he spring of
1943."* Unlike the rest of Poland but instead as in pre-19

39 Germany,

? USHMM, RG 15.033m, reel 1, folder 17,

pp- 79-80 (KdSchupo Sonderbefehl Nr. T
Sosnowiec, 20.7.42)

k]

° USHMM, RG 15.033m, reel 1, folder 17, Sonderbefehl Nr. 2, 10.11.42.

** The Jews were concentrated in the eastern strip of East Upper Silesia that had not been
German territory even before 1919. USHMM, RG 15.033m, reel 1, file 32: p. 4,

KdSchupo Kattowitz, 16.4.40, Umsiedlung der Juden aus dem altschlesischen Raum,

and p. 41, KdSchupo Sosnowitz, 25.11.41, betr.: Umsiedlung der Juden.

Two Jewish transports left Kattowitz for Nisko on October 20 and 28, 1939, before

that operation was halted. Alfred Konieczny, “Die Zwangsarbeit der Juden im Schlesien

im Rahmen der ‘Organisation Schmelt,” Beitrige zur nationalsozialistischen

Gesundbheits- und Sozialpolitik, V (1987), p. 94.

3 USHMM, RG 53.004m, reel 1: on the public transportation ban, file 31, p. 1:
Polizeiprisident Sosnowiec, 19.3.41, betr: Ausschaltung der Juden aus den
offentlichen Verkehr, and p- 15, KdSchupo, Sosnowiec, 30.4.41, to 44. Polizeirevier
Czeladz, betr: Benutzung der Ziige durch Juden; on the curfew, file 32, p.
Abschnittskommando I, Sosnowiec, 13.6.41, to all agencies; on banning Jews from
certain streets and conducting business with German officials outside early morning
hours, file 32, pp. 8-9, Polizeiprisident Sosnowiec, 18.1.41, to all authorities,

"t For the ghetto in Czeladz: USHMM, RG 15.033m, reel 1, file 31, p. 12, Polizeiprisident
Sosnowiec, 14.4.43, an die Zentrale der jiid. Altestenrite in Oberschlesien.

Iz

22, Schupo-
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the Jews here were not marked until September 1941."5 By Mw.m mwnsw
of 1942 some 6,500 Silesian Jews had vwms rounded up an . ERBM
in the Jewish labor camps of Organisation mnr::.w? g.h @HMOH tot M
deportations the majority continued to work in private %W owne
shops.*® The strongest single indicator of the mmmhw‘nowﬂmmﬁ mﬁéwmb
Lodz and Warsaw on the one hand and East G@mﬁ Silesia on the other
is that despite the discrimination, expropriation, .mma forced labor
roundups, in the first 2 years of the German occupation of East G@@MH
Silesia there was no significant rise in the natural death rate among the
i ulation.™
wm,\mwm N%owmu the reserve police in the awnnoﬂuogﬁ.@m territory” Mm East
Upper Silesia were more like German police serving at home Mn_mb on
occupied territory. And the Jews they mcoosbﬁmwmm were treated more
like German than Polish or Soviet Jews. How did ﬁrm. German Schupo
of East Upper Silesia react toward a gmém.v @wm&mﬂon .ﬁrmﬁ Mmm not
stigmatized by marking, isolated by mrmﬁ.ﬁoﬁmDoP emaciated y mﬁmm.x
vation rations, and decimated by epidemic? Scattered references in ﬁam
surviving documents hint at a very different atmosphere .msm S_SW.MSH -
file police behavior than in the rest of Ommamblowgh%a Poland. In
November 1939 the commander of the Schutzpolizei in .mmmﬁ Upper
Silesia warned all of his men that “the greeting o.m a Jew is E.UH to be
acknowledged at all,” and that any police engaged in contact with Jews
outside official business could be expected to be sent to a concentra-
tion camp.*® This was not simply a one-time setting OM policy, for _Mrm
following spring, the commander of the Schutzpolizei felt compelle

s USHMM, RG r5.033m, reel 1, file 31, p. 2, Schutzpolizei-Abschnittskommando I,

wommoﬁnm 17.9.41, Polizeiverordnung iiber die Kennzeichnung der Juden vom 1. Sept.
&l r7 b

N T . . « s .

16 ch\onUmnm Document NO-1386: Schmauser to Himmler, 20.4.42; Konieczny, WE
Zwangsarbeit der Juden im Schlesien,” pp. 97-100. Though .w@ﬁmv businesses ewmhm taken
over by German trustees, at least initially they often nosﬁbcmm to employ t e ondmm
Jewish owners and workers. As the young survivor Abe Kimmelman mmamgvmnnm int W#
about German-Jewish business relations in the early months of H?.w occupation: “. . . ﬁw
ing the first winter, the cruelty of the Germans was not yet recognized. . . . They .ﬁa.nm DM
so much Germans on the inside as on the outside. And érwz they were momnﬁwﬂ. with ¢ w
Jews they could get along” USHMM, David Boder Collection, vol. I, pp. 9-10 (interview
of Abe Kimmelman). 4 . X

7 Avihu Ronen, English abstract of “The Jews of Zaglembie during the Holocaust,” Ph.D.

is (Hebrew), Tel Aviv University, 1989, p. 7. ) A

i8 MWMMM/\MZQ RG WM‘OW 3m, reel 3, file 144, pp. 1-3, circular KdSchupo Scheer, Kattowitz,

20.11.39.
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once again to warn his men. He had repeatedly witnessed how Jews
did not promptly and sufficiently make way for Germans on the side-
walks, which he deemed to be intentionally provocative. The police
were told to demand respect from the Jews and Poles, not chat with
them. “An even more regretful case has come to my attention,” he con-
tinued, “that a police official has extended his hand to greet a Jew.”
The police were to watch for and report any such “abuses.”’® There
were also complaints that the curfew and ban on use of public trans-
portation were not being enforced.*®
On the eve of the May 1942 deportations, the Schutzpolizei com-

mander felt the need to exhort his men to be tough: “You must pro-
ceed ruthlessly in the Jewish actions. . . . Racial struggle is harsh —
sentimentalism is out of place.”*" In July 1942, however, even after the
first deportation action of May~June 1942 and on the eve of the sec-
ond deportation action of August, the unthinkable had happened once

again — “A German police official was said to have greeted a Jew. . . .

Jews should not be greeted on the open street at all.” Thus, all the men

and noncommissioned officers were to be reminded once again about

the exact fulfillment of duties. “In case of lapses, especially in dealings
with Jews and Poles, they can reckon with no consideration.”?*

Although the Schupo commander continued to see disturbing signs

of insufficient harshness and disdain toward the Jews on the part of his
men, between the first and second deportation actions (May-June and

¥ USHMM, RG 15.033m, reel 4, file 175, p. 15, Major Nowack, Schutzpolizei-
Abschnittskommando V, Sosnowiec, 10.4.41, Abschnitts-Kommandobefehl Nr. ro.
*° USHMM, RG 15.033m, reel 1, file 32: p. 15, Major Nowack, KdSchupo, Sosnowiec,
30.4.41, betr. Benutzung der Zige durch Juden; p. 22, Schutzpolizei-
Abschnittskommando I, Sosnowiec, 13.6.41, an alle Dienststellen. Even more disturb-
ing for the police commanders were instances of police dereliction making use of Jews.
In February 1941 a policeman entered a fabric store accompanied by a Jew. The latter
— acting as an expert adviser and allegedly behaving “very impudently” - found fault
with goods on the shelves and asked for those kept in the back of the store. The store
owner refused to show him these goods, and the policeman “very rudely” left store.
Despite an investigation, his identity was not discovered. USHMM, RG 15.033m, reel
3, file 144, p. 24, Schutzpolizei-Abschnittskommando I, Sosnowiec, 13.2.41 (sehr frech
» - . sehr unhéflich). In May 1942, a Schupo accompanied by a Jew entered the apart-
ment of a Polish woman. He confiscated her food supply without receipt, which the Jew
then carried off for him. This case too remained unsolved. USHMM, RG 1 5.033m, reel
1, file 52, pp. 7—171, KdSchupo Gerichtsoffizier, Sosnowiec, 8.5.42.
USHMM, RG 15.033m, reel 6, file 209, Ummm:nm8:m:_m:mﬁwwmwnmnrcnm, 14.5.42.

USHMM, RG 15.033m, reel 6, file 209, Dienststellenleiter-Besprechungen, 16.7. and
30.10.42.
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August 1942) in East Upper Silesia, for the first time he had also to give
his attention to another phenomenon — namely, the curbing of
unseemly and public police violence. In July 1942 — after some 17,000
Jews had been sent to their deaths in nearby Auschwitz-Birkenau — he
advised his men that beating Poles or Jews in public was “in no way
permissible.” “This is freebooter behavior that has no place in the
German police.”*? (“Dies sind Landsknechtnamieren, die nicht in die
Deutsche Polizei geboren”™).

These are admittedly quite fragmentary references, but they are sug-
gestive. In East Upper Silesia, where the police were still living as at
home rather than as occupiers in a foreign land and the dehumaniza-
tion of the Jews through marking, ghettoization, and starvation pro-
ceeded well behind the pace set in the Warthegau and General
Government, the brutalization of the police seems also to have been a
much slower process. This would suggest that imposing racial imperi-
alism was corrupting. Acting as a “master race” on occupied territory
changed attitudes and behavior, and each step in degrading and mis-
treating victims made the next step easier. For the policemen stationed
in East Upper Silesia this process went relatively slowly, in sharp con-
trast to those involved in Operation Barbarossa. Let us turn to the let-
ters from Reserve Police Battalion ros5 in the Baltic.

A 4o-year-old Bremen salesman who had previously served as a
reservist in Norway wrote his wife about the battalion’s orientation on
the eve of the invasion: “The major said that every suspect is to be shot
immediately. Well, 'm in suspense,” he noted sarcastically. (“Der
Major sagt, jeder Verdichtige ist sofort zu erschiessen. Na, ich bin ges-
pannt.”) Not hiding his antipathy toward his officers, he suggested that
they might shoot as they had in the comfort of the officers’ casino in
Oslo, where they had been previously stationed. “The gentlemen fancy
themselves as very important and martial,” he concluded.** (“Die
Herren kommen sich sebr wichtig und kriegerisch vor?”)

Two days later, after the first execution of seven civilians, his tone
changed abruptly. “In comparison to our present action,” he admitted,

*3 USHMM, RG 15.033m, reel 6, file 109, Dienststellenleiter-Besprechung, 2.7.42.

*4 ¢ . ein bisschen die Wahrheit” Briefe eines Bremer Kaufmanns von seinem Einsatz
beim Reserve-Polizeibataillon 1os in der Sowjetunion 1941,” ed. by Ludwig Eiber,
1999. Zeitschrift fiir Sozialgeschichte des 20. und 21. Jahrbunderte, Ug1, p. 67 (letter
of 24.6.41).
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“Norway was nothing at all.”*5 He assured his wife that he would tell
her “a little bit of the truth”; otherwise, she would perhaps get “a false
picture” from others. However, he warned: “Only you must give it no
thought, there’s no point to it.”*¢

Initially he made detailed references to the Jews he encountered. Sent
to a village to arrest all communists, the police rounded up 19 men and
6 Jewish girls. He fully expected to be part of a firing squad. However,
after interrogation, the 6 Jewish girls and 11 men were released. The 8
remaining men — none of them Jews, he noted specifically — were taken
away amidst the “terrible wailing and howling” (“fiirchterliches
Gejammer und Gejaule”) of their mothers, wives, and children.?”
Clearly Reserve Police Battalion 105 did not enter Soviet territory with
prior instructions to kill all Jews but had received the Kommissarbefehl
concerning the liquidation of communist functionaries.

In early July his company was lodged in commandeered Jewish
houses, where every morning the “chosen people” (“auserwiblte
Volk™) had to appear and work. He himself had two young Jews, a 15-
year-old boy and 19-year-old girl, as his servants, but they had to be
provided with identification cards or otherwise someone else would
grab them. “The Jews are free game. Anybody can seize one on the
streets for himself. I would not like to be in a Jew’s skin.” (“Die Juden
sind Freiwild. Jeder kann sich auf der Strasse einen greifen, um ibn fiir
sich in Anspruch zu nebmen. Ich méchte in keiner Judenhaut
stecken.”) The Jews had no food, he noted. “How they actually live, 1
don’t know. We give our bread and more. I cannot be so tough,” he
confessed. (“Von was die eigentlich leben, weiss ich nicht. Wir geben
unser Brot und auch sonst was ab. Ich kann nicht so bart sein”) In
addition to food, he noted: “One can only give the Jews some well-
intended advice: bring no more children into the world. They have no
future”*® (“Mann kann den Juden nur noch einen gut gemeinten Rat
geben: Keine Kinder mehr in die Welt zu setzen. Sie haben keine
Zukunft mehr.”)

Two weeks later, when the company moved to Mitau, the reserve
policeman noted that there were “no more Jews” in town to act as

=3 Ibid., 68 (letter of 26.6.41).

*¢ Ibid., p. 70 (letter of 4 or 5.7.41).
*7 Ibid.

=8 Ibid., pp. 70-1 (letter of 7.7.41).
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servants. “They must be working, I suppose, in the countryside,” he
wrote once again with a possible tone of sarcasm.*

In early August he wrote first on a theme that dominates much of
the correspondence — namely, the most recent packages of food that
he had sent home to his wife and mother, in this case butter and
cheese, which he hoped “will taste good to you.” He then added cryp-
tically: “Here all Jews are being shot. Everywhere such actions are
underway. Yesterday night 150 Jews from this place were shot, men,
women, children, all killed. The Jews are being totally exterminated”
(“Hier werden simtliche Juden erschossen. Uberall sind solche
Aktionen in Gange. Gestern nacht sind aus diesem Ort 150 Juden
erschossen, Minner, Frauen und Kinder, alles umgelegt. Die Juden
werden ginzlich ausgerottet”). He advised his wife once again not to
think about it — “it must be” — and at least for the moment to “say
nothing about it” to their eldest child.3® (“Liebe H., mache Dir keine
Gedanken dariiber, es muss sein. Und dem R. nichts davon erzihlen,
spdter mall”)

In short, in the first month of Operation Barbarossa the Bremen
reserve policeman wrote about Jews in two distinct ways. When refer-
ring to Jews in general, his tone was sarcastic and unsympathetic: “the
chosen people” had had their houses commandeered, and they were
presumably “working in the countryside.” But when he wrote of the
Jews that he actually encountered, the tone was quite different. The
first Jews arrested by his company were released, and he was relieved
not to be part of a firing squad. The Jewish youths working as his ser-
vants were portrayed as victims facing a pitiless future, and he con-
fessed himself not tough enough to deny them a few handouts. One
month later, when systematic killing of all Jews was clearly underway,
he shifted to yet another voice — what I would call the “anonymous
passive” that is so prevalent in postwar testimony as well. He openly
wrote that all Jews were being shot, but without mentioning in any

way his own or even his unit’s participation. He expressed no feelings
of his own except acceptance of the inevitable — “it must be.” He urged
willed indifference on his wife and silence before his eldest child. There
was no celebration or boasting and even a hint of shame.

29 Ibid., p. 72 (letter of z0.7.41)
3° Ibid., p. 73 (letter of 7.8.41).
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. The reserve policeman wrote of Russians, especially partisans, quite
differently. The partisans were “beasts” (Biester),* “dogs” Q«xm&& 32
and ﬂ.nﬁmmr: (Lumpen) who had to disappear.’’ He provided Sm&
descriptions of executions that were “the order of the day.” For exam-
ple, “The arrested communists and snipers are made to lie facedown in
graves that they have dug themselves and then shot in the neck from
Wumgsm.zi The sight of partisans whose bodies were left hanging for
dmnm,hmgnox was so common it no longer affected the men, he admit-
ted.?S Concerning one execution that he missed following m“ “partisan
hunt,” he wrote explicitly: “It was said to have been ?Dﬂwm (“Es soll
toll gewesen sein™).

It is clear from the letters that the civilian population at large was
not spared. His company had burned down every house and barn
within 25 kilometers to deny lodging to the partisans. “We were
ﬂ.mhmommv in the true sense of the word,” he confided.’” Russians were
WOHQW.Q to march in front of patrols to set off possible mines.3® Any

Wcmwﬁb moshsm in the forest was shot out of hand.?® When his unit suf-
ered casualties, he and his comr angry; «“ i
best of all to shoot down all WMMMMBNWMOO%MWMMW“W ey ASOEE i

am liebsten alle
Russen iiber den Haufen schiessen™).
. He complained that the retreating Russians had burned everything
E.&HQH flight, leaving nothing to be plundered. “For that their own
prisoners must go hungry, yes, that is quite clear,” he wrote. And he left
no doubt as to what that meant. “When one sees a prisoner camp, one
nwz see muserable scenes. The people would be better off aomu&:ﬁ
(“Hungern miissen die eigenen Gefangenen dafiir, das ist ja ganz klar.

%w:m man mal Gefangenlager sieht, kann man trostlose Bilder seben.
Die Leute wiren besser tor”).

3T Ibid., p. 68 (letter of 3.7.41).
?* 1bid., p. 77 (letter of 28.9.41).
?3 Ibid., p. 82 (letter of 25.10.41).
34 Ibid., p. 74 (letter of 22.8.4 i i
s -8.41). Other executions are descr - g
R o et ) s are described on pp. 81-3 (letters of
5 Ibid., p. 79 (letter of 8.10.41).

3¢ Ibid., p. 81 (letter of m.wo.xﬁw.
37 Ibid., p. 77 (letter of 28.9.41).
3% Ibid., p. 78 (letter of 3.10.41).
37 Ibid., p. 76 {letter of 7.9.41).
42 Ibid., p. 81 (letter of 8.10.41).
1 Ibid., p. 75 (letter of 7.9.41).
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For the village of Mir there is the testimony of a survivor, Oswald
Rufeisen.*s The special quality of his testimony derives from two fac-
tors. First, he had a unique vantage point. Born and educated in Silesia,
Rufeisen spoke Polish and German without a detectable accent.

Following his escape from Vilna, he was passing as a person of mixed

Polish-ethnic German parentage when in November 1941 he was

ordered to serve as the interpreter for the chief of the regional auxil-
lary police living in the village of Mir. Two months later, he was com-
mandeered to serve as translator at the German Gendarmerie station
in Mir under the command of Sergeant Reinhold Hein. For the next 7
months, until August 1942, Rufeisen slept in the house of the
Byelorussian police commander at night. By day he worked at the
German police station across the street and took his meals seated next
to Sergeant Hein.

Second, Rufeisen’s formidable memory has been tested and proved
in an unusual way. He had given a detailed account of his escape from
the Mir police station on several occasions. When the archives in
Brest-Litovsk were finally made accessible to the west, a contemporary
report by Sergeant Hein on Rufeisen’s escape was found.*®
dence between Rufeisen’s postwar recollections and the wr
is remarkable to say the least.

The coinci-
itten report

The German Gendarmerie unit in Mir was composed of 2 career
policemen — Sergeant Hein and his second in command, Corporal Karl
Schultz47 — and 11 reservists from the north German region of
Pommern. Hein was the only Catholic. Virtually all the men were in
their forties. Relations among them were formal. They addressed one
another by their last name. Mealtime conversation was dull and humor-

less. There was no political conversation either, and Rufeisen had no

idea who was or was not a party member. Hitler’s name was mentioned

only on the Fithrer’s birthday. The only anti-Semitic expression Rufeisen

* This account of Oswald Rufeisen is based on three sources: |
Nechama Tec, recorded in her book, In the Lion’s Den (Oxford, 1992); his pretrial tes-
timony in the case of Crown v. Semion Serefinowicz; and my own interview with him
on June 17, 1998, just 6 weeks before he died on August 1.

48 USHMM, RG 19996.A.169, reel 22 (Brest Archive, M-41/1021): Hein to Gend.-
Gebietsfithrer in Baranowitsche, 20.8.42.

#7 In his account to Nechama Tec, Rufeisen identifie
interview with me, he corrected Tec’s account
career policeman.

his interviews with

d Schultz as a baker by trade. In his
and stated that Schultz was an Aktiv, or
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could remember was when one of the Protestants once referred to
Mary, mother of Jesus, as an “old Jewess” —a remark that was as anti-
Catholic as it was anti-Semitic.

Among the 13 German Gendarmes, Hein’s deputy Karl Schultz
was a notorious sadist and drunkard, whom Rufeisen described as
“3 beast in the form of a man.” He kept a notebook listing all those
he had killed, a tally that reached more than 8o before Rufeisen
escaped. His closest companions were Rothe and Schmelzer, whom
Rufeisen did not characterize as sadists. But they also killed “with-
out remorse or conscience.” A fourth policeman, Steinbach, was also
placed by Rufeisen in this group of those he considered the “worst”
policemen.

In contrast, identified as the “best” policemen were the
Volksdeutscher from the Netherlands, Roth, and a man named
Proksch. In his interview with me, though not in other accounts,
Rufeisen also added to the list of the “best” policemen the man in
charge of the kitchen, whom he remembered only by the first name of
Adolf. These men did not take part in the killing of Jews, and their
absence on these occasions was accepted without incident or reper-
cussion. As Nechama Tec summarized Rufeisen’s account: “No one
seemed to bother them. No one talked about their absences. It was as
if they had the right to abstain.”**

The remaining policemen were characterized by Rufeisen as “pas-
sive executors of orders.” who killed without hate or ideological moti-
vation. Concerning the spectrum of attitudes, Rufeisen noted:

It was clear that there were differences in their outlooks. I think that the
whole business of anti-Jewish moves, the business of Jewish extermination
they considered unclean. The operations against the partisans were not in
the same category. For them a confrontation with partisans was a battle, a
military move. But a move against the Jews was something they might have

experienced as “dirty.”#

Sergeant Hein was the most enigmatic figure among the 13
Germans. He, too, did not take part in the anti-Jewish expeditions

48 Tec, In The Lion’s Den, p. 102.
49 Tec, In the Lion’s Den, p. 104.
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Germans in such activities, and thus the ghetto-clearing squad in
Marcinkance was composed of Reich Germans.

Included were eight officials from the customs office, two officials of
the forestry office, the local agricultural officer, and a railway
employee. At least two were so-called old fighters, or Alte Kampfer -
Corporal Olschewski and the g1-year-old chief forester Hans Lehmann
— who had both joined the party in March 1932. The secretary of the
customs office, 4o-year-old Emil Marquardt, was a 1937 joiner. The
railway man, Otto Fahsing, also claimed party membership. The most
recent membership of 1940 belonged to the overall commander,
Sergeant Wietzke.>*

In short, of the 17 Germans assigned to the ghetto-clearing com-
mando, 2 were career policemen and 2 were reserve police. The
remaining 13 were drawn from five sectors of the civil administration:
the Amtskommissar, customs office, railway, forestry office, and agri-
cultural office. Of the 7 known by full name, 5 were party members,
including 2 “old fighters.” The average age of these 7 was 40 years.
These men were not a cross-section of German society in either age or
party affiliation, but they were probably not untypical of Gendarmerie
and civil administration personnel serving far behind the lines in the
occupied eastern territories.

In fact, the ghetto-clearing squad was ultimately composed of only
15 men. After the Germans had assembled early on the morning of
November 2, the Amtskommissar and the police sergeant ordered the
Jewish council to assemble all Jews at the ghetto entrance by 8 A.M. to
be transported for “labor.” The Amtskommissar then left to check on
transportation but was unable to return “because he was summoned to

a suicide of a customs official”5* In the entire file this suicide is referred

to only once, without elaboration. Given the fact that this customs offi-

cial took his life at the very moment when all customs officials were to
report for the ghetto-clearing operation strongly suggests, however, that
the suicide was not purely coincidental or unrelated to the task at hand.

5T For party membership, see: National Archives, Berlin Document Center microfilms,
Ortsgruppenkartei and Zentralkartei. I could find no card for Otto Fahsing, but in the

investigation, he proudly claimed party membership.
52 USHMM, RG 53.004m, reel 1 (Grodno Oblast Archives, fond 1, opis 1, folder 59, p. 3:
Hauptwachmeister Wietzke to Gendarmeriekreis in Grodno, 6.11.42) (da er zu einen

Selbstmord eines Zollbeamten gerufen wurde).
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poorly fenced, and he was explicitly instructed to counter any attempt
at flight with use of weapons. Amtskommissar Czapon and he had
ordered the Jewish council to assemble all Jews at the ghetto entrance
for “labor” (“Arbeitseinsatz”), but only some 8o Jews initially
appeared as ordered. Therefore, Wietzke continued, after Czapon
departed to check on the train, he entered the ghetto again with
Corporal Olschewski and the railway man Fahsing. They ordered the
Jews they encountered to go to the assembly point, where the total
number of Jews increased to some 150. When Olschewski ordered
them to form up in rows of 6, the Jews “with one accord” (“wie auf
ein Kommando”) scattered in all directions, some trying to escape to
the woods and others fleeing again to the houses. “Before this not a
single shot had been fired,” Wietzke claimed, but now he, Olschewski,
and Fahsing opened fire with automatic weapons to prevent the
attempted escape.

After the shoot-out, the same three men, joined by the customs head
Marquardt, went on a house-to-house search through the ghetto,
uncovering bunkers under five houses with disguised entrances sawed
in the floorboards. This was proof, Wietzke wrote, that the Jews had
prepared their hiding places long before. As not a single Jew could be
induced to leave the bunkers either through coaxing or threat, “only
the use of weapons remained to carry out the measures that had been
ordered” In the end a total of 132 Jews were “shot trying to escape”
(“beim Flucht erschossen”).

When Amtskommissar Czapon finally returned, Wietzke continued,
Lehmann left his post without orders, openly accused him of shooting
“peaceful Jews” (“friedliche Juden”), and then went home even though

> hours of obligatory service remained. Lehmann had admitted that
many Jews had escaped through the fence near him, but Wietzke had
never heard a shot fired in this area. Thus Lehmann, who in any case
had not brought a rifle but only a small pistol with him, had not
obeyed orders to use his weapon to prevent escape. Moreover, Wietzke
charged, Lehmann’s position was 8o meters from the ghetto entrance,
so he could not possibly have seen what had actually happened.
Everyone else except Lehmann had kept their nerve and done their best
to prevent “the scum of humanity, the Jews” (“der Abschaum der
Menschheit, die Juden”) from fleeing. In conclusion, Wietzke again

GERMAN KILLERS
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beforehand. Each emphasized that no shots had been fired until “with
one accord” the Jews scattered. By Olschewski’s estimate, 50-60 Jews
were shot at the assembly point by the three Germans within the
ghetto. He gave no estimate for how many had been shot at the fence
by those forming the cordon. During the subsequent search of the
ghetto, the Jews had stubbornly refused to come out of their hiding
places and bunkers despite “soothing assurances,” so that “the cus-
toms man” (“der Zoll” - i.e., Marquardt) had had to throw in hand
grenades. The well-prepared hiding places were proof, they noted, of
long-held Jewish intentions to escape the roundup. Each emphasized
that Wietzke’s behavior had been “composed” (“rubig”) and “sober”
(“besonnen”). And each emphasized that from Lehmann’s assigned
post, the chief forester could not possibly had seen the ghetto entrance.
If he had not left his post, he could not have seen what happened; if he
had seen what happened, then he had against orders left his post and
thereby helped Jews to escape.’”

The two men also made no attempt to hide their anti-Semitic cre-
dentials. Fahsing testified that while guarding the fence before entering
the ghetto, he had warned one Jew who approached the fence to turn
back or he would fire. The Jew had, as he put it, “impudently”
(“frech”) answered that “it was no great feat to shoot at defenseless
human beings” (“es wiire kein Kunststiick auf webrlose Menschen zu
schiessen”). Concerning Lehmann’s accusation that they had shot
upon “peaceful” Jews, he noted: “I am a party member, and was
dumbfounded by the behavior of Lehmann regarding the Jews.”
Lehmann’s accusation of Wietzke was not only “fully unjustified” and
“uncomradely” but “proved Lehmann’s comical attitude to the Jewish
question.” In the same vein, Olschewski testified, “Personally I cannot
rid myself of the impression that Lehmann sympathized with the Jews
and even protected them. Apparently Lehmann does not yet under-
stand the racial question . . .” (“dass Lebmann die Juden bedauerte

order sogar in Schutz nabm. Scheinbar ist Lebmann iiber die
Rassenfrage noch nicht im Bilde . . ”). In contrast, as an old party
member, Olschewski proudly claimed to be “fully aware” of it.

57 Ibid., pp. 9-11, 14-16: Statements of Otto Fahsing and Paul Olschewski, 6.11.42.
Although Wietzke and Olschewski spoke only of Marquardt or the customs man in the
house-to-house search, Fahsing did speak of “customs men” in the plural.
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mEL. Kmn@:maﬁ testified that from his post in the cordon he saw the

%MM\MQBM%%WTMMEMQ%SQ bw.mmm_.mm toward the fence when, like Poh] he
- 41 burst of automatic gunfire then erupted, and ;

Jews broke through the fence. As ordered beforel mm oo d fre
on the fleeing Jews. Twenty-four Jews were Emhmuﬂs e @8
where he was stationed. He, too, testified that m_ mvonm o fence fne
to have been “planned and op.m_m:ima ” mem :m‘a Hmﬂrozw ﬁu@mmn@m
search of the ghetto, where any Jews mowbm_ E%cm_ H .m Hw: e e
single Jew would leave the bunkers, hand gr _M e i I
short, all Jews were killed and not w si ; risomes s o i .
Fahsing and Olschewski, Marquardt &MWMMMMMMMH MMH J_ﬁ:. o
s&o threw the hand grenades, though he did mmm%.v\ N
being made to look ridiculous by Jews, but rather .H
that any order of any German official
must be carried out energetically.”s$ u

Wietzke i i
Lo wémm. tully backed by the mvestigating police officer
o ant Porzig, who added his own report to the file. Porzig m:ca&u
previous unspecified quarrels b i .
. : etween Wietzke and Leh
implying that the larter w i ctod o
as habitually quarrelso
: : me and had acted
of personal spite. Furth i ruples”
. ermore, he questioned Lehmann’s “
o : s ehmann’s “scruples”
M mmsm§§§mﬂm§ ). How could Lehmann speak of “peaceful” Wém
m . . <« . ’
e MMEH wonwhm queried. “As a National Socialist he [Lehmann] BSmM
o Uomwn mﬂ ere Mm Mo such thing as peaceful Jews, otherwise we would
pared the present war.” In co 1
| ared . ntrast, Porzig noted, Wi
Was "no novice” in the Jewish Question.5? u ° ke
o B . . . ’
. n %M Hno:owS:m day, the nvestigative commission, joined now by
another police officer, Lie i
; , utenant Miller, confr dL
who initially reiterated hj u e had e
is charge that the Gend:
: armes had fired
b . on
M omﬂi Jews for no visible reason. When pressed, Lehmann admitted
hat he - ‘
o he Was 300-350 meters away, too far to see what had caused the
oe mxwm to O@m:.mwm. Lehmann maintained that “he had worked
y well together with the Jews for 9 months and without complaint
2

N.U,Q MHW Q.—& notw ant to HHHNW@ wwhwﬂ.mﬂ»: H@m‘ﬁc:m:v—m MA: ﬁ_unw m—”_Q m.
otin HO

t as the one
“I'don’t see myself
. ake the standpoint
if resisted even only passively,

Lehmann should view the marter

I
Mm :uﬁ; Pp- 6=8: Statement of Emil Marquardt, 6.11.42
Ibid., pp. r17-18: Schiussbericht of Lt. ,

6.11.42. Porzig, Om:mmbdon.mmvﬁn::cm Porzecze,
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from the “National Socialist standpoint,” the forester mzmmm&w M@:M&
i i hot, that would not be so bad, but he
that “if occasionally one were shot, o bad, but ie
i he should be transferred; in tha
could not do it. In that case : e e
i i i ? (“Man solle ibn dann versetzen;
was not suited for this territory” ( ‘ crzens dam:
i ich fiir di et nicht eignen”). Lieutenant Mil
wiirde er sich fiir dieses Gebiet nic eut : e
in hi ding to convincing testimony,
concluded in his report that accor . ; ¢
Lehmann but instea
led peacefully as claimed by
Jews had not assemb ! 4 by L i utinsteac
i i d openings in the fence.
had milled around trying to fin
mMoﬁm had been fired against individual attempts to break out, the QMMM
i d beforehand to prevent escapes,
had scattered in mass. As ordere w .
Ommun_magmm had then opened fire. To Lehmann’s m?mmmao\w ﬂrmﬁ. the
is vi Miiller cited Amiskommissar
ricultural officer shared his view, : !
Mwm@on to the contrary. There is, however, no written HQWOHM Mm vﬂmmﬁm
i ave
i U led that his fellow Gendarmes had be
mony by either. Miller ru ! mes fhad behaved
be taken against Lehma
roperly, and he recommended action :  for
Mwm mm&w&ocm and totally unjustified false accusation and a@wwﬂw.eow
(“leichtfertig und durch nichts gerechtfertigten falschen Anschuldigung
; 60
d Beleidigung”) against them.
x:mcirmn MG the hierarchy, Landrat Dr. von Eoﬂﬁ added MOm ﬁ_rm
charges against Lehmann. Not only had he made a ?:\owomm mbmm% Hmo
i ich i f sufficient gravity to have
ccusation, which if true was o :
MSmHNWm,m conviction in a SS court, but Hmvamb,b rmﬁ &m.o bwn ﬂwmm
formed his duty properly: he had not brought a Mummméﬂv ?B,ﬁ M .
i d he had left his pos .
ot fired on the escaping Jews, an
wcﬁvgaogu he had displayed an attitude toward the Jews that Smw
“not worthy of a high official serving in the east. ha:&SNmUH. <.M m
Ploetz concluded that Lehmann, who already had a record omHMzﬁ w "
with other officials, had this time gone too far. He recommende
; 61
Lehmann be taken into custody. . .
mhmwamcb was astonished, for the report of the two investigators, he
said, “must have confirmed the full truth of my Hmmom. Fm@mm ;a sm\mw
, ho fired the first shot and fo
true that he had not been able to see w ot and for
fectly well that the Jews had o
what reason, but he could see per t flered
i i “within the ghetto fence
sistance until shooting by Gendarmes “w : )
MM&nmmsmma panic and mass flight. He then elaborated on his previous

0 Ibid., pp. 19—20: Miiller report, Grodno, 10.11.42. . N
6t wm”m u Wm pmnm. Ploetz to Dr. Brix, Ploetz to Forstmeister Lehmann, 12.11.42
- PP- :

YA

3
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account to protect himself 2
been made. The charges a
unjustified but an attack
comrade.®*

gainst the countercharges that had now
gainst him, he concluded, were not only
upon his honor as an official and party

On December 13, 1942, Lehmann and the head of the Bialystok
forestry administration met with Dr. von Ploetz and the head of
Grodno Gendarmerie, Lieutenant Haag. In the interests of sparing
time on further investigation and restoring cooperation between the
forestry office, the Gendarmerie, and the Amtskommissar, all sides
agreed to drop their various accusations.®3 Although quarrels between
the German occupiers continued and von Ploetz was soon demanding
the troublesome Lehmann’s removal once again,®* the Marcinkance
massacre was no longer at issue.

For the historian, it is not unuseful that the 1nvestigation was con-
ducted by outspoken anti-Semites who ma
over Lehmann’s complaint. Only those like
the accused sergeant were interviewed. And

war judicial investigations, they had every incentive to boast of their anti-
Semitic motivation, exaggerate their role

in the killing, and provide
evidence that Lehmann was an isolated troublemaker. Despite all of

these biases in the investigation, what do we discover? Of the 17
Germans assigned to clear the ghetto at Marcinkance, 1 committed suj-
cide and 1 protested openly. In addition to Lehmann,
one side of the ghetto — the agricultural officer and one

de no secret of their dismay
ly to confirm the account of
as was not the case in post-

2 other men on
customs official

 Ibid., p. 22: Lehmann to Pl
follows: Two other witness
could confirm that Jews ha

oetz, 21.11.42. Lehmann’s elaboration and defense was as
€8 - customs officer Kanis and agricultural officer Grafke ~

d not escaped through his sector of the cordon, which was
not the point of any breakout attempt. He had not brought a rifle with

had received no instructions to that effect, bur like several others — including
Amtskommissar Czapon — he had been armed with a pistol. When the shooting and
breakout occurred, he, along with the customs officer and the agricultural officer, had
rushed to help two other customs officials at a point where the Jews where fleeing
through the fence in mass. Ar this point they had been greatly endangered by the auto-
matic fire coming from within the ghetto and had been forced 1o take cover. He had
fired his pistol twice but then stopped because the distance was too great. When the
shooting and breakout were over, he had approached Amtskommissar Czapon and

asked if he was still needed. Receiving no answer, he had left the ghetto to take his
deputy for medical attention,

Ibid., n.p.: Niederschrift, Grodno, 15.12.42.
USHMM, RG §3.004m, roll
Ploetz to Brix, 22.1.43.

him because he

£

3 (Grodno Archive, fond 1, opis 1, folder 271, pp. 2—4):
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— refrained from shooting at escaping Jews. And Lehmann’s subordinate,
the other forester, suffered a shoulder injury while trying to tackle an
escaping Jew, which would indicate he, too, had been unwilling to shoot
unarmed, fleeing Jews at point-blank range. Once the shooting was over,
only 2 men — the senior customs official and the railway man but not the
2 reserve policemen — joined the 2 career policemen in the hunt for hid-
den Jews with the opportunity to continue killing. The 4 eager killers
were indeed all Nazi Party members and avowed anti-Semites. It is hard
to imagine that others could not have joined in the “Jew hunt” if they
had wished. And it is hard to imagine that others would not have joined
in the anti-Semitic denunciation of Lehmann if they, too, had found his
views so alien and his behavior so objectionable.
From postwar testimony of Marcinkance survivors we learn addi-
tional relevant information. First, there is not a single reference to a
planned and organized breakout, as alleged by the eager, ideological
killers during the investigation. Those who survived spoke only of
escape and hiding. Indeed, if there had been any such plan, the Jews
would hardly have assembled at the gate first, presenting a compact
target for the three Germans with automatic weapons, before making
their breakout attempt. Second, 105 Jews were killed that day (Wietzke
had claimed 132). Nearly 100 Jews escaped, out of whom 45 survived
the war. And finally, in the winter of 1943 Jewish partisans derailed a
German train in the forests of eastern Bialystok. Among those taken
prisoner was Hans Lehmann. Identified by a Marcinkance escapee as
having “actively” helped in the liquidation of the ghetto, Lehmann was
promptly executed.®s
This evidence that offers rare and unusually precise insight into the
behavior and attitudes of individual participants of two groups of
German perpetrators suggests several conclusions. First, in each group
there was a significant core of eager and enthusiastic killers - 4 of 13
in Mir and 4 of 17 in Marcinkance — who required no process of grad-
ual brutalization to accustom themselves to their murderous task. And
certainly in Marcinkance, though less in Mir, the evidence for their
strong anti-Semitic convictions is clear.

65 Yad Vashem Archives, 0.33/2112: Collective eyewitness report of Shloyme Peretz,
Kahne Garfing, Leyb Kobrowsky, and Khayem Kobowsksy, written down by Leyb

Konykhosvky, Ulm, August 25, 1948.
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In both cases there was i
: a middle
complied with standard procedures b e mot vt ed orders and

petrators elsewhere.

And fi i - )
minosit MME\ in both .Z: and Marcinkance there was a significant
Y of s v\. wwm.: who did not participate in the shooting of Jews — 3 o
whsﬁmzmmﬁ_mmmﬂwm:a @mnrﬁummm Bmsv\mmmo% HW :M

Marci .
arcinkance. Abstention from shooting by itself did not have discipli

@:@Mmmrﬁ_ﬁrm killing went on without them.

hat [ i

ot MMQQMMW MMMMBmM:& Ewo_g disciplinary consequences was

Km:,&:_&sno case so cb:w:&mm%mnmwﬁ MMEM&M_M mﬂm o ahe e the

Mmﬂbmﬁ mwmxﬁrm:. guns during the breakout but H_MMH .

i Mm MMMMQW owoMrm DMOEEW of mrm. action and a second wrote a

Shons nrm:mmmw © HM. : assive abstention was one thing; an open and
ystem was another. The eager killers and their

supportive superiors banded together to discredi
upstart accuser. _

r of the Germans
one German com-

t and crush their

W W
mU-~_v__mm_mu___ once a aimn H__mw ‘: mmzwmmwﬁmhv DNH_.HH.Q C‘m H-W € ehﬁm@ﬂ.ﬁm ﬁ_Hmﬁ

brisomers o e presse o o:w bitterness toward the Russian
stan people as a whole. Th i
- These attitudes
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stood in contrast to his willed indifference toward and muted accep-
tance of the mass murder of the Jews, about which he did not want his
child to hear. Likewise in Mir, the men did not speak about the killing
of Jews, which was viewed as a “dirty” task, but they spoke eagerly
and proudly about their antipartisan actions.

What also emerges more starkly in these documents than in postwar
testimony is the difference between career police and reservists.®® From
the documents we see that in East Upper Silesia the commander of the
Schutzpolizei was disturbed by the insufficient hostility toward and
enforcement of measures aimed at Jews and furious about occasional
instances of public fraternization. In Reserve Police Battalion roj5 the
reservist from Bremen criticized both the pompousness and hypocrisy
of his officers. In Marcinkance the reserve police found things to do
other than join the “Jew hunt,” and their testimony was both devoid
of anti-Semitic comment and less than effusive in providing support on
behalf of their sergeant.

Career policemen like Sergeant Hein in Mir or Major Wilhelm
Trapp of Reserve Police Battalion ror were the exception. They clearly
had no great liking for their task of killing Jews and personally dis-
tanced themselves from these actions. But simultaneously they ensured
that the men under their command carried out the policies of their gov-
ernment and the actions that had been ordered by their superiors.

At the opposite extreme of Hein and Trapp were career Order Police
officers like Fritz Jacob, the commander of 25 Gendarmerie and 500
Schutzminner in Kamenetz—Podolsk in the south Ukraine, who wrote
a series of revealing letters to one of the very highest ranking Order
Police officers, Generalleutnant Rudolf Querner.®” Jacob’s virulent
hatred of Jews and commitment to the Final Solution were total. The
Jews he characterized as “venereal, deformed, and feeble-minded”
(“Venerische, Kriippel, und Blode”). They were “not humans but

%€ For example, in Reserve Police Battalion 101 one noncommissioned officer (NCO)
hinted at “certain tensions” between the older reservists and the younger NCOs who
were career policemen — so-called Aktiven. Because he fraternized with and played
cards with the reservists, he testified, he was disliked by his fellow NCOs for his
unseemly behavior in this regard. Staatsanwaltschaft Hamburg, 141 Js 1957/62, testi-
mony of August W., p. 3304.

7 “Schéne Zeiten.” Judenmord aus der Sicht der Titer und Gaffer, ed. by Ernst Klee, Willi
Dressen, and Volker Riess (Frankfurt/M., 1988), pp. 148-51 (letters of Fritz Jacob to
Generalleutnant Querner: 24.4.41, 29.10.41, and 21.6.42).
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Hmﬁrmw ape men” (“keine Menschen, sondern Affenmenschen™) wh
he W_:mm “without the slightest prick of nosmﬁmnnm: AMM\QOE
ﬂﬁ.&mmmﬁ?&muv. But Jacob was not limited to Jews in his appetite MR
W._:Em. “We do not sleep here,” he wrote, “Weekly 3—4 mnm_.uwbm OoH
time Gypsies and another time Jews, partisans, or omrmn.i@nmm » "
In .ma&ﬁ.om to his ideological commitment to do “practical << k>
mn.vm Em.wmrnmﬁ Jacob was also an ambitious careerist. He éﬁnoMM d
his assignment in the east because “hopefully” he would :mmm:@z
receive advancement, for in Saxony “the promotion path is really sl \
and scarcely conceivable without favor from above” MMMS
BefGrderungsgang wirklich schleppend und obne Protebtion k o
denkbar”). The sycophantic and obsequious tone of his FQQ&&S
Generalleutnant Querner were hardly indicative of someone EEM Mo
tul of his future career. Even avowedly anti-Semitic kill EE :
from more than one motive, e
Q.mm&v\ the German Order Police was not monolithic, but in the end
Mrm a.:\oam&\ of attitudes and motives made little %mmmnﬂwnm Even if Hﬂ
ordinary Germans” who were conscripted as reserve wo_.mnn_dm: &M
moﬁ, 80 to the east exuding ideological commitment to National
mow_mrmE and eager for the opportunity to kill Jews, when the de
tations and killing began, most did as they were 8@ and man vere
nrm.zmmm by the actions they undertook. Both the men of the W% rve
Huorow battalions — such as ro7 in Lublin, 133 in Galicia, and 45 MMQMMM
Ukraine, to name several of the most notorious — as S&M as the count-
momm Gendarmerie and Schupo stations throughout the German empire
in the east became efficient perpetrators of the Final Solution, A nﬂa
of eager and committed officers and men, accompanied ,v .m_: e X
larger Z.o&a of men who complied with the policies of the Rmmam EMM:
out of E@mﬂ.o:m_ and organizational rather than ideological factor )
was sufficient. Unfortunately, the presence of a minority of men érw

sought not to participate in th ime’ ial killi
e regime’s racial killing had no -
able effect whatsoever. ° e



